FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/24/2022 2:46 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/25/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### 101201-2

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

## NO. 82568-2-I (Consolidated with No. 82569-1-I)

#### ESCALA OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

v.

# CITY OF SEATTLE; SEATTLE DOWNTOWN HOTEL & RESIDENCE LLC,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Although decades have passed since the Washington State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), RCW 43.21C, was adopted by our state legislature, this court has not yet provided guidance on the legal parameters around when a government agency can or cannot adopt existing environmental documents per RCW 43.21C.034 to meet its duties and obligations under that law. Nor has this court provided any direction about the extent that an "addendum" to an existing environmental impact statement (EIS) can be used to meet certain SEPA obligations. This case provides the court with the opportunity to address these questions for the first time.

A decision by this court on the issues presented will have implications that go far beyond the concerns of the immediate controversy. If allowed to stand as is, Division I's opinion will allow every local jurisdiction and agency to rely on the adoption and addendum process to purge SEPA requirements that are pivotal to ensuring government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm from their SEPA review process. To avoid that outcome, Petitioner seeks review and guidance on these issues of substantial public interest.

### **B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner is Escala Owners Association.

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its opinion on July 25, 2022.<sup>1</sup> *See* Appendix A hereto. The trial court's decision was filed on March 23, 2021. *See* Appendix B hereto.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On that same day, Division 1 filed another opinion in a parallel case that presented the same central legal issue that is presented in this case. *See Escala Owners Association v. City of Seattle*, 2022 WL 2915537 (July 25, 2022). Escala Owners Association has also filed a Petition for Review with this court in that case. The introduction and the legal argument on "Issue 1" are nearly identical in the two Petitions.

#### **D.** ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the City of Seattle hearing examiner err as a matter of law when he allowed the City to use the adoption and addendum process in a manner that violated SEPA regulations that ensure government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm?

2. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously interpret RCW 43.21C.500 to bar judicial review of the City's SEPA decision on traffic impacts and deprive Escala of its fundamental and inalienable rights under SEPA?

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion is generally correct in its recitation of the facts and procedure. Op. at 4-9. However, several points bear emphasis.

Seattle Downtown Hotel & Residences has proposed to build a 54-story building with a hotel, apartment units, and retail stores at 5th Avenue and Stewart Street (the "Altitude Project") in downtown Seattle. AR 571; AR 3601. In addition to 233 apartment units and 257 hotel rooms, the building will include retail on the ground floor, a restaurant and bar on the 50<sup>th</sup> floor, and a rooftop bar on the 51<sup>st</sup> floor. AR 3308.

Escala is a 30-story residential tower that was constructed in 2009 at the corner of 4th Avenue and Virginia Street. CP 227. The Escala shares the alley with the Altitude Project site. *Id.* Escala relies on the alley for package delivery, furniture delivery, and other services such as the United States Postal Service, Amazon, FedEx, Furniture Stores, Service vehicles, and others. AR 2186. Escala also relies on the alley for its emergency vehicle services and for solid waste/compost/recycling collection services. Residents also use the alley for parking large moving trucks when they move in and out of condominiums. CP 254.

The proposed building will result in massive traffic congestion, circulation, loading, access and safety impacts in and near the alley. Even before the traffic from the new building is added, vehicle traffic and truck loading circulation through the alley is highly constricted given the narrow width of the alley and frequent daily need for service access. If the proposed building proceeds with its current design, the public service, traffic, and safety problems in and around the alley will be horrendous.

Since the Project was first announced, Escala Owners Association has implored the City and Seattle Downtown Hotel & Residences to make small changes to the building to address the project's significant adverse impacts. The residents of Escala never objected to development of the project site in a general sense. Indeed, Escala simply proposed a small set back slightly further from the alley to alleviate those impacts. Because of the City's truncated SEPA process, that alternative was never studied. The City failed to assess whether a design of that sort could accomplish the developer's objectives with less environmental impact—SEPA's exact purpose. The City of Seattle employed a hollow SEPA process to check the boxes instead of engaging in a meaningful SEPA review of impacts. Rather than prepare an EIS specifically for the Altitude Project, the City relied on a final EIS from January, 2005, which was initiated in 2003 for legislative zoning proposals being considered by the Seattle City Council at that time. That EIS was meaningless for purposes of assessing the actual impacts of the Altitude Project.

As Judge Richardson said in her decision, the 2005 EIS "did not address the environmental impact of one alley serving two (potentially soon to be three) 30+ floor high rises within one block of one another with hundreds of hot and apartment units, retail, and restaurant, and potentially thousands of pedestrians, residents, and vehicles." *See* Appendix B at 5. "It did not address how the increase in population inside and outside the Project would affect the number and access of emergency vehicles, trucks, moving vans, and deliveries, as well as storage of waste and recycling in the alley." *Id.* at 6. "There was no analysis of the effect of the Project on pedestrians." *Id.* "There was no analysis of reasonable alternatives to the Project proposals or their environmental impacts." *Id.* 

Apparently recognizing that the old EIS was devoid of any meaningful assessment of impacts of the Project, the City issued an addendum to that old EIS that contained some, but not all, of the information and analysis that was required to be in the EIS. Most conspicuously absent was the heart of the SEPA analysis: a comparison of alternatives. This broken process allowed the City to avoid accountability and dodge SEPA requirements, including the requirement to consider alternative building designs, such one with an increased setback on the alley, that would have had less significant adverse impacts.

# F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This court should address two important SEPA questions that each present issues of substantial statewide public interest – (1) whether a lead agency can utilize the SEPA adoption and addendum process to evade SEPA requirements that are pivotal to ensuring a comparison of alternatives, government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and reduction of environmental harm, and (2) whether the Court of Appeals erroneously interpreted RCW 43.21C.500 to bar judicial review of the City's SEPA decision on traffic impacts, which deprived Escala of its fundamental rights.

# 1. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted legal requirements that govern the use of the adoption and addendum process.

When it adopted SEPA, the state legislature recognized that "each person has a fundamental and inalienable right to a healthful environment and that each person has a responsibility to contribute to the preservation and enhancement of the environment." RCW 43.21C.020. The central purpose of SEPA is to protect these fundamental and inalienable rights and local governments and state agencies are assigned the responsibility to protect those rights. *Id*.

SEPA's principal mechanism for protecting these rights is not a list of substantive mandates. Instead, SEPA is about knowledge. SEPA requires that, for any major action significantly affecting the quality of the environment, an agency must prepare an "environmental impact statement" or "EIS." RCW 43.21C.030. Detailed information about impacts and an analysis of alternative proposals must be presented in the EIS. WAC 197-11-440.

The central driving force behind these requirements is to ensure that government bodies are fully informed about the environmental impacts of their decisions before making those decisions. *Wild Fish Conservancy v. Washington Dept. of Fish*  and Wildlife, 198 Wn.2d 846, 502 P.3d 359 (2022); Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 80, 392 P.3d 1025 (2017); Norway Hill Preservation and Protection Ass'n v. *King County Council*, 87 Wn.2d 267, 272, 552 P.2d 674 (1976). The process should not become a discarded hypothetical exercise, but must instead serve practically as an important contribution to the decisionmaking process. The Lands Council v. Washington, 176 Wn. App 787, 803-804, 309 P.3d 734 (2013). The information and analysis in an EIS is not meant to simply rationalize or justify decisions already made. Id. citing WAC 197-11-406. SEPA documents are not prepared to adorn a bookshelf. An EIS must be useful. Columbia Riverkeeper, 188 Wn.2d at 105. "The EIS should educate decision-makers on the likely environmental consequences of the action as well as highlight 'reasonable alternatives' to the proposal." Id. at 105-106. Armed with the knowledge gained from the EIS process, the

result should be a project that accomplishes a proponent's objectives with less environmental harm.

The requirement that an EIS identify and assess the impacts of reasonable alternatives to the proposal, including a no-action alternative, is the heart of SEPA. RCW 43.21C.030. See also WAC 197-11-400; WAC 197-11-402; WAC 197-11-440(5), WAC 197-11-792(2)(b). "It is difficult to overstate the importance of reasonable alternatives to achieving SEPA's underlying policy goals, which seek to balance the needs of the environment with the inevitability of development. Columbia *Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d at 106) *citing* RCW 43.21C.010(1)-(4). By explaining how the action agency can achieve its project objectives at a lower environmental cost, the discussion of reasonable alternatives in the EIS carries out SEPA's core policy in the form of practical advice." Id. If an agency follows a process that avoids a comparison of alternatives, it has ripped the heart out of SEPA.

To avoid excessive paperwork, lead agencies are allowed to adopt an existing EIS that was prepared for a different proposal. But agencies can do this only in limited circumstances. The existing EIS must "adequately address environmental considerations set forth in RCW 43.21C.030," which includes the requirement to analyze "alternatives to the proposed action." RCW 43.21C.034; RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c)(iii). The proposal that is assessed in the existing EIS must be "substantially similar" to the new proposal, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and "provide[s] a basis for comparing their environmental consequences," RCW 43.21C.034. Finally, an existing EIS can be adopted for use on a new proposal only if the information in the existing EIS is accurate and reasonably up-to-date. SMC 25.05.600(B).

Reading RCW 43.21C.034 in a way that harmonizes with SEPA's overall purpose, it is clear that the legislative intent of including limitations and restrictions on the adoption of existing documents was to ensure that the existing document actually provides meaningful information that decisionmakers can rely on about the impacts of the current project and alternatives before making a decision.

In this case, the City concluded that the Altitude Project was a major action that would significantly impact the environment under RCW 43.21C.030, which triggered the requirement to prepare an EIS for the project-including an alternatives analysis. RCW 43.21C.031; WAC 197-11-734. But instead of preparing a new EIS, the City recycled an old EIS that had been previously prepared in 2005 for zoning legislation referred to as the "Downtown Seattle Height and Density Changes." AR 1855; AR 2855-3198; AR 2218. That old EIS did not contain any assessment of alternatives to the building design at issue here. Nor did it address the impacts of the current proposal on the alley or the loss of light and related health effects on Escala's residents. The old EIS didn't provide meaningful information about or analysis of any of the impacts of the

Altitude Project. In fact, the 2005 EIS assumed that the Altitude Project site would not be developed at all. AR 2321; AR 2544-2547; AR 2584. Escala, which was built in 2009, did not even exist when the old EIS was prepared. CP 227.

The 2005 EIS was "outdated, incomplete, and irrelevant with regard to the Altitude Project." Appendix B at 6. "It does not address numerous issues that require analysis, alternatives, and debate as required by law." Id. It did not provide a useful meaningful or assessment about the specific environmental impacts of the Altitude Project on this specific project site. As Judge Richardson concluded, "Downtown Seattle has changed since 2005. The FEIS issued that year is not relevant to or indicative or the current reality....For example, the 2005 FEIS stated it was unlikely that development would even occur at the site upon which the Altitude Project is now proposed to be located." Appendix B. at 6.

If the analysis of impacts of different building designs had been presented in a Draft EIS, the public and other agencies with expertise could have provided input, critiques, or ideas for mitigation during the public comment period and the City would have been obligated to consider and respond to those comments in a final EIS. SDCI would have had to compare the impacts that would occur under the different designs. That comparison of impacts would have informed its decision to either approve, deny, or condition the Altitude Project.

These deficiencies were not minor. To cure the obvious shortcomings in the 2005 EIS, the City issued an addendum. AR 1702. The addendum did not include an analysis of alternative building designs. Nothing the City did filled that gaping hole. The broken process utilized by the City obscured the fact that SDCI did not conduct any alternatives analysis at all for the Altitude Project. 2. Guidance on these issues is a matter of substantial public interest because it involves government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm on a state-wide level.

A decision by this court on the issues presented will have implications that go far beyond the concerns of the immediate controversy for two reasons.

First, if it stands as is, the Court of Appeals' decision will allow agencies and local governments throughout the State of Washington to use an addendum to present the information and analysis described above that is required to be in an EIS. This is an alarming proposition that will have dire consequences to the public interest.

An "addendum" is a tool established in the Department of Ecology SEPA rules, specifically WAC 197-11-625, that can be used by a local government to add factual corrections or other information that does not warrant further public comment and input. WAC 197-11-660(4)(c). An addendum is not subject to the same public review and process and content requirements as an EIS. *See* WAC 197-11-400 through WAC 197-11-460; WAC 197-11-500 through 570. No public comment period is required for an addendum. WAC 197-11-625. The addendum must be circulated only to the recipients of a final EIS. *Id.* (In this case, that is the people who received the Final EIS back in 2005 before Escala existed). In fact, even if someone who did not receive the FEIS asks to be notified when an addendum is issued, the lead agency has no legal obligation to provide notice of the addendum to that person despite his or her request. *Id.* 

The entire review, comment, and responsiveness to comments on a draft EIS, which are the focal point of SEPA's commenting process, would be eliminated if agencies are allowed to use an addendum to provide information that is supposed to be in an EIS. WAC 197-11-500(4). The SEPA rules are meticulous and thorough in describing the information and analysis that must be presented in the EIS, such as an analysis of impacts, an assessment of reasonable alternatives to the proposal, and consideration of mitigation measures to lessen or avoid the adverse impacts. WAC 197-11-440; RCW 43.21C.030. *See also* WAC 197-11-400; WAC 197-11-402; WAC 197-11-440(5), WAC 197-11-792(2)(b).

But if an addendum can be used to present this information, agencies can escape the requirement to prepare a draft EIS and ignore public notice and comment requirements on that draft EIS. SEPA provisions that require government accountability and meaningful review following the public comment period via the publication of a final EIS can be ignored. If they can use an addendum, agencies can dispense with the requirement to publish all of the public comments and the agency's response to those public comments in a Final EIS after the public comment period. In fact, if they use an addendum, they do not have to include all of the content that is required in an EIS that's set forth in WAC 197-11-400. By using the addendum process in lieu of an EIS, the lead agency does not have to consider modifying alternatives; developing new alternatives; supplementing, modifying, or improving the analysis; making corrections; or explaining why the comments don't warrant further agency response. WAC 197-11-560(1).

Put simply, Division 1's holding will allow lead agencies to use the adoption and addendum process to circumvent the entire public process required by WAC 197-11-500 through 570. In fact, Seattle regularly uses addenda in lieu of supplemental impact statements, short-circuiting the detailed review mandated by the statute. That thwarts the SEPA goals of meaningful public involvement, government accountability, and the reduction of environmental harm. Government agencies and interested citizens would not have an opportunity to review and comment on the alternatives analysis, the description of the existing environment, and the impacts analysis. The lead agency and applicant would not have an opportunity to improve their project or to encourage the resolution of potential concerns or problems prior to issuing a final statement.

The Court of Appeals decision will have dire consequences to the public interest across the entire State of Washington if it is allowed to stand as is. It is directly inconsistent with this court's description of SEPA goals and policy in *Wild Fish Conservancy v. Washington Dept. of Fish and Wildlife*, 198 Wn.2d 846, 502 P.3d 359 (2022); *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d 80, 392 P.3d 1025 (2017); and *Norway Hill Preservation and Protection Ass'n v. King County Council*, 87 Wn.2d 267, 272, 552 P.2d 674 (1976). Addressing the proper--and improper--use of addenda is an important issue of first impression to be resolved by this Court.

This case also provides a unique opportunity for this court to closely examine the limiting language in RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B) and provide much needed guidance for state agencies and local jurisdictions on the legal parameters around when they can or cannot adopt existing environmental documents to meet their duties and obligations under SEPA. Aside from Superior Court Judge Richardson, the lower court and hearing examiner mistakenly considered it a forgone conclusion that a local jurisdiction can adopt an existing EIS even if the information in that EIS is unreliable, inaccurate, and outdated. The Court of Appeals opinion essentially nullifies the limiting language in RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B).

While her decision is obviously not binding on this court, Superior Court Judge Richardson's decision in the Altitude appeal is persuasive because she is the only decision maker who actually focused on the two specific questions that are presented above: (1) whether an addendum can be used as a substitute for an EIS and (2) whether the limiting language of RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B) had been met by the old EIS. Once a court actually focuses on those requirements, the outcome is obvious – the old EIS is inadequate and addenda cannot be used to cure the error. Sweeping those issues under the rug as the Court of Appeals did, will allow local jurisdictions and agencies to adopt old, outdated documents that don't provide meaningful information about or analysis of proposals and then use the addendum process in lieu of preparing a proper EIS in violation of SEPA.

> 3. The interpretation of a new statutory provision that withholds judicial review and deprives communities of their fundamental and inalienable rights under SEPA is a matter of substantial public interest.

RCW 43.21C.501(2) is a new statutory provision that bars administrative and judicial appeals of a local jurisdiction's SEPA review of transportation impacts of development proposals unless certain exceptions are met. It was enacted in July, 2019 by the Washington State legislature.<sup>2</sup> Division 1's opinion in this case provides the first (and only so far) interpretation of this new provision by a state appellate court. And Division 1 erred when it held that RCW 43.21C.501 barred judicial review of the City's SEPA decision on traffic impacts in this case.

RCW 43.21C.501(2), on its face, goes against the "very essence of civil liberty," which "certainly consists in the right of every individual to claim the protection of the laws." *Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137, 163, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803); *Bowen v. Michigan Academy of Family Physicians*, 476 U.S. at 670. As was observed by a committee's remarks leading to adoption of the federal Administrative Procedures Act: "Very rarely do statutes withhold judicial review... in such a case, statutes would in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This provision was originally erroneously codified as RCW 43.21C.500. *See* RCW 43.21C.501 (Reviser's note). Also, it appears that the word "expressly" was removed from the provision that is most relevant to this appeal when it was amended in June, 2022.

effect be blank checks drawn to the credit of some administrative officer or board." Id. at 671. For this reason, courts have established a strong presumption in favor of judicial review of administrative action. McNary v. Haitian Refugee Center, Inc., 498 U.S. 479, 111 S.Ct. 888, 112 L.Ed.2d 1005 (1991); Bowen v. Michigan Academy of Family Physicians, 476 U.S. 667, 670, 106 S.Ct. 2133 (1986); Abbott Laboratories v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 87 S.Ct. 1507 (1967). The United States Supreme Court's well-settled presumption favoring interpretations of statutes that allow judicial review of administrative action support an interpretation by this court of RCW 43.21C.501 that avoids foreclosing meaningful judicial review. See McNary v. Haitian *Refugee Ctr., Inc.,* 498 U.S. at 496.

In addition, SEPA creates a property right that is subject to constitutional procedural due process protections. SEPA grants an aggrieved person the right to judicial review of an agency's compliance with its terms. *Lands Council v. Wash.*  State Parks & Recreation Comm'n, 176 Wn. App. at 802. See also RCW 43.21C.075; RCW 36.70C.030. A cause of action is a form of property that is protected by the due process clause of the constitution. Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 428 102 S.Ct. 1148, 71 L.Ed.2d 265 (1982). Escala therefore has a property right in the form of a SEPA appeal that is guaranteed by the state and the Legislature's choice to limit this appeal opportunity previously granted implicates those constitutional rights.

This provision clearly constitutes a deprivation of individual due process rights to protect the fundamental and inalienable rights that SEPA grants. *See* RCW 43.21C.020. Because a statute should be interpreted in a manner that sustains its constitutionality, the exceptions should be construed in a manner that is most likely to allow appeals to be heard. *In re Way's Marriage*, 85 Wn.2d 693, 703, 538 P.2d 1125 (1975) ("[I]t is our duty to avoid rendering a statute unconstitutional by

interpretation if by an alternative interpretation we may render it constitutional."); *In re Chorney*, 64 Wn. App. 469, 477,825 P.2d 330 (1992) ("Where a statute is susceptible to an interpretation which may render it unconstitutional, we are admonished to adopt a construction which will sustain the statute's constitutionality"). *See also In re Kurtzman's Estate*, 65 Wn.2d 260, 263, 396 P.2d 786 (1964) (en banc). In turn, this means that RCW 43.21C.501 must be construed in a manner that is most likely to allow an appeal to be pursued.

In addition, a court's responsibility in construing an act is to construe a statute with reference to its manifest purpose. *Leschi Imp. Council v. Washington State Highway Comm'n*, 84 Wn.2d 271, 279-280, 525 P.2d 774 (1974) (en banc). SEPA's manifest purpose is that the procedural provisions of SEPA constitute an environmental full disclosure law. *Wild Fish Conservancy v. Wash. Dept. of Fish and Wildlife*, 198 Wn.2d at 872-73; Columbia Riverkeeper, 188 Wn. 2d at 104; Norway Hill *Preservation and Protection Ass'n v. King County Council*, 87 Wn.2d at 272. The right of petitioners to a healthful environment is expressly recognized as a "fundamental and inalienable" right by SEPA and the choice of this language in SEPA indicates in the strongest possible terms the basic importance of environmental concerns to the people of this state. *Leschi Imp. Council v. Washington State Highway Comm'n*, 84 Wn.2d at 279-80. State and local governments are assigned the full responsibility to protect these rights. RCW 43.21C.020; *Polygon Corp. v. Seattle*, 90 Wn.2d 59, 578 P. 2d 1309 (1978).

To achieve this public policy, the exceptions should have been interpreted broadly in favor of judicial review of decisions made by state and local governments. The fundamental rights of communities impacted by significant adverse traffic impacts should not be easily taken away. If they are, the goal of this provision will not be met. The goal of the legislature was not to ensure that those who suffer from the traffic impacts lose their right to claim the protection of this law through judicial review, it was to ensure that traffic impacts would be effectively mitigated.

Division 1's opinion carelessly dismissed Escala's arguments and provided an inadequate and incomplete assessment of the issues presented. The opinion does not even mention or acknowledge the momentous impact that its decision has on individual rights to judicial review. Meanwhile, the decision hands a "blank check" to every local jurisdiction in the State of Washington to disregard public input on traffic impacts during the SEPA review process. Impacted citizens will have no recourse to challenge even the most blatant SEPA violations.

The citizens of Washington deserve a more thoughtful assessment of this new provision. At the very least, Escala has hope that this court would at least consider and acknowledge the severity of the impact this provision has on the fundamental right to judicial review, which is a matter of substantial public interest.

# G. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner seeks review and guidance on these issues of substantial public interest.