I. INTRODUCTION 
AND IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS 

Although Petitioner Escala Owners Association 

(“Escala”) asserts that this matter involves an issue of 

substantial public interest and a significant constitutional 

question, nothing could be further from the truth.  The Court of 

Appeals’ decision (“Opinion”) properly applied the plain 

language of the State Environmental Policy Act (“SEPA”), Ch. 

RCW 43.21C RCW, and its implementing regulations (“SEPA 

Rules”), Ch. 197-11 WAC.  The Opinion followed precedent in 

upholding the sufficiency of exhaustive, years-long 

environmental review for a single hotel and apartment building 

(“Project”) in downtown Seattle (“City”). 

Escala seeks discretionary review on two grounds.  First, 

it argues that the Court of Appeals’ affirmance of the adequacy 

of environmental analysis raises a matter of substantial public 

interest.  Second, Escala argues that the Court of Appeals’ 

conclusion that Escala’s traffic-related claims are not subject to 

appeal under SEPA raises a matter of substantial public interest 
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and a significant constitutional question.  Neither claim 

provides a basis for discretionary review, see Rule of Appellate 

Procedure (“RAP”) 13.4(b), and Escala’s Petition should be 

denied.  

Regarding the first claim, Escala fails to demonstrate any 

error in the City’s meticulous application of SEPA.  Escala 

represents the residents of a 30-story condominium building 

located across an alley from the Project.  Escala believes the 

Project will contribute too much traffic to the alley.  The City, 

however, thoroughly considered Escala’s concerns and 

concluded that the Project will not have significant traffic 

impacts.  The use of an alley to serve multiple high-rise 

buildings is consistent with the City’s land use code, which 

requires buildings to take access off alleys, and it is also a 

common condition across downtown.  The City documented its 

conclusion by adopting an Environmental Impact Statement 

(“EIS”) including an analysis of downtown traffic and by 

supplementing the EIS with a detailed SEPA addendum 
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(“Addendum”) containing a full, Project-specific traffic study.  

See RCW 43.21C.034; WAC 197-11-600(4).   

The Petition unsuccessfully attempts to frame Escala’s 

private, fact-based disagreement with the City’s SEPA 

determinations as a public, procedural dispute.  Its assertion that 

the City used the wrong procedures is inconsistent with 

unambiguous legislative and regulatory language and prior 

appellate precedent directly on point.  Moreover, Escala 

repeatedly misrepresents the record.  In particular, it brazenly 

asserts that there was no analysis of alternatives, but the record 

clearly demonstrates that the Addendum analyzed four separate 

Project alternatives involving different heights and densities, 

going far beyond SEPA’s requirements.  Escala does not 

establish an issue of substantial public interest requiring review.  

In its second asserted basis for discretionary review, 

Escala argues that SEPA’s express and unambiguous 

prohibition against traffic-based appeals of urban residential 

projects, see RCW 43.21C.501, deprived Escala of a 

“fundamental and inalienable right,” presenting an issue of 
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substantial public interest and a significant constitutional 

question.  RAP 13.4(b).  This claim also fails.  The Legislature 

made a policy choice to streamline SEPA review of residential 

projects by eliminating statutory appeals.  This is a decision for 

the Legislature to make.  Escala requests an “interpretation” of 

RCW 43.21C.501 that is completely inconsistent with both 

plain language and legislative intent.  Escala also erroneously 

argues that it has a constitutional or property right in a purely 

statutory cause of action, a contention this Court has long since 

rejected. 

Neither of the arguments in Escala’s Petition for Review 

(“Petition”) can establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).  

The City and Applicant (collectively, “Respondents”) ask this 

Court to deny review. 

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES 
PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the City Hearing Examiner erred when he 

determined that the City properly adopted an EIS and 

SEPA Addendum under WAC 197-11-600(4), which 
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provides for use of a SEPA addendum when a project 

will have no new significant adverse impacts beyond 

those that have already been analyzed in an existing 

environmental document? 

2. Whether the City Hearing Examiner erred when he 

determined that Escala’s SEPA traffic claims were not 

subject to appeal under RCW 43.21C.501, which 

provides that urban residential projects meeting statutory 

criteria are exempt from SEPA appeals on the basis of 

allegedly inadequate review of traffic and parking 

impacts? 

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Project is a 54-story mixed-use building with 

apartments, hotel, retail, and parking located in an area of 

downtown Seattle zoned for buildings up to 550 feet in height.  

Contrary to Escala’s claim that the City ignored its SEPA 

obligations, the Project was subject to exhaustive 

environmental review over more than five years.  The City’s 

SEPA analysis utilized the procedures established by RCW 
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43.21C.034 and WAC 197-11-600, which provide for the use of 

existing documents – i.e. for local jurisdictions reviewing a new 

proposal to adopt and incorporate relevant information from 

analysis of a prior proposal.  Here, the City determined that 

potential environmental impacts from the Project were within 

the range of impacts that had been analyzed in an 

environmental impact statement (“Downtown EIS”) prepared in 

2005 for the adoption of the zoning regulations allowing 550-

foot buildings.  Accordingly, the City adopted the Downtown 

EIS. 

Because the Downtown EIS contained no individual 

discussion of the Project, the City also prepared a 323-page 

Addendum providing extensive analysis of the Project.  The 

analysis in the Addendum shows that the Project will have no 

probable significant adverse impacts beyond those analyzed in 

the Downtown EIS.  The Addendum describes the Project and 

compiles a number of expert, technical analyses of its potential 

impacts, including the report of an experienced transportation 

engineer regarding traffic and alley issues.  Contrary to Escala’s 
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assertion that the Addendum contains no analysis of 

alternatives, see Petition at 15, the Addendum analyzes four 

alternatives (two alternatives and two sub-alternatives) varying 

the size and composition of the Project and the environmental 

impacts expected from each one.  AR 1133. 

Escala appealed the adequacy of the EIS for the Project 

to the City Hearing Examiner (“Examiner”).  Respondents 

moved pursuant to RCW 43.21C.501 to dismiss claims alleging 

that the Project would have traffic impacts in the alley.1  After 

hearing evidence and argument, the Examiner concluded that 

the Project is consistent with the criteria established by RCW 

43.21C.501 and dismissed Escala’s transportation claims as 

exempt from appeal.  The Examiner then held a four-day open-

 
1 RCW 43.21C.501 was enacted by the legislature in 2019 
(originally codified as RCW 43.21C.500) and was amended in 
June 2022, after issuance of the Opinion.  The version of the 
statute that applied when the decisions below were issued 
established that an urban residential or mixed-use project is 
“exempt from appeals” under SEPA if it is “[c]onsistent with 
the transportation element of a comprehensive plan” and is a 
project “for which traffic or parking impacts are expressly 
mitigated by an ordinance, or ordinances, of general application 
adopted by the city or town.” 
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record hearing and issued a decision rejecting the remainder of 

Escala’s claims.  The Examiner’s decision included the 

conclusion that the Downtown EIS:  

provided environmental analysis for the upzone of the 
Downtown District.  This rezone established the zoning 
under which the project application was submitted, 
establishing the provisions that specifically allow for the 
proposal.  The [Downtown EIS] specifically anticipated 
projects of the type represented by this proposal.  

 
Opinion at 13. 

Escala appealed to Superior Court pursuant to the Land 

Use Petition Act (“LUPA”), Ch. 36.70C RCW.  The Superior 

Court affirmed the Examiner regarding the RCW 43.21C.501 

appeal exemption (along with several other issues now 

abandoned by Escala) but reversed regarding the City’s 

adoption of the Downtown EIS and preparation of the 

Addendum.  Escala and Respondents cross-appealed to the 

Court of Appeals, which issued the Opinion affirming the 

Examiner on all counts. As the Opinion states, “[a]n addendum 

is the appropriate vehicle for adding . . . ‘analyses or 

information about a proposal [that] does not substantially 
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change the analysis of significant impacts and alternatives in 

the existing environmental document.”  Opinion at 14-15 

(quoting WAC 197-11-600(4)(c)).  Escala “failed to meet its 

burden to present actual evidence of probable significant 

impacts” that would require discussion in something other than 

an addendum.  Opinion at 15. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

Escala incorrectly asserts that discretionary review is 

warranted because this case involves an issue of substantial 

public interest and a significant constitutional question that 

should be determined by the Supreme Court.  RAP 13.4(b)(4).  

There is no factual circumstance implicating the public interest: 

the Project provides needed housing in the densest urban area in 

Seattle, consistent with the City’s zoning regulations, and the 

City carefully and thoroughly evaluated the Project’s potential 

environmental impacts under SEPA.  Escala’s claims amount to 

nothing more than complaints about the garden-variety 

downtown condition of an alley with multiple users.   
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Nor is there any public-interest or constitutional issue of 

law.  First, Escala fails to establish that there is any need for 

“guidance” from this Court regarding the procedures for 

adoption of existing documents and the use of addenda, which 

are clearly established by the SEPA Rules and were 

straightforwardly applied by the City in this case.  Second, 

Escala fails to demonstrate that the Legislature’s policy choice